1955

Thomas F. Kirkham v. Orien A. Spencer and Viola Spencer : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 25th day of January, 1952, William Kirkham, now deceased, entered into a written contract of sale of certain real property which is described in the complaint of the plaintiffs to Orien A. Spencer and Viola Spencer, his wife, for the sum of \$5,993.38, payable at the rate of \$65.00 per month or more, with interest at the rate of five per cent.

At pre-trial the parties stipulated that the plaintiff, Thomas F. Kirkham, is the duly appointed, qualified and acting executor and that the contract of sale properly describes the property and that the terms of the contract are

accurate. The only fact reserved for trial was whether the defendants paid to the plaintiff's decedent during the month of August, 1953, the sum of \$4,800.00. It was the defendants' contention that this amount had been paid and it was the plaintiff's position that it had not.

It would appear from the evidence presented by the plaintiff that the decedent was 77 years of age at the time of his death, which was on September 6, 1953, and that he was a widower and had lived alone for a long while. That his brother, the plaintiff, did all his business for him, including his banking, and even assisted to the extent of drawing his contracts, (Tr. P. 4), and that this relationship had continued for at least 10 years prior to his death.

Near the last of August the plaintiff testified that he visited Mr. Hinton, at the request of the decedent, to retain him to collect the delinquent amount then owing under the contract with the defendants. The plaintiff judged the date to be August 30, 1954.

The plaintiff testified that he did all the banking for his brother and that he did not bank any amount of \$4,800.00. He admits that he did not inquire as to whether the decedent had other bank accounts (Tr. P. 16) and he further admits that he did not make a search of the home and property of the decedent for any assets that may have been on hand at the date of death, (Tr. P. 16) and that the only inquiry that he made as to the assets of the estate were from two members of the decedent's family (Tr. P. 16). The plaintiff further admitted upon cross-examination that he did not know what monies were on hand at the decedent's death or in his house, or in his wallet (Tr. P. 17), and that he made no effort to find out. The plaintiff further admitted that he did not deposit all the money

received by the decedent, and that he did not know what happened to some of the money (Tr. P. 18), and that, in fact, the only money that he deposited was that money given to him to deposit by the decedent. The plaintiff stated on P. 36 of the transcript that he cannot remember what any of the children told him about what they found in the way of assets, if anything.

The only other witness called by the plaintiff at the time of trial was Cleo K. Beagley, a daughter of the deceased. She testified that she was present in the house after the death of her father, and that she took part in a search that was made of the house. She stated that as far as her personal search was concerned, she searched the linen closet (Tr. P. 41), and that she was present when the desk was searched, although she does not recall what particular part she played in searching the desk. She admitted that she made no inquiry at any bank (Tr. P. 42) or that she looked in any place other than the house in search of the assets of the estate. She confirmed on Page 40 of the transcript that the only place that the family searched was in the house.

After this evidence the plaintiff rested.

Defendant here moved to dismiss the case on the grounds that the plaintiff did not prove a cause of action, the evidence being insufficient to sustain the complaint, and that the facts proven did not show a right to relief. The defendant's motion was denied.

The defendant then proceeded to introduce Defendant's Exhibit 3, a receipt for \$4,800.00 signed by decedent. The handwriting expert who testified (Tr. P. 47) stated that there was no doubt that the person who signed Defendant's Exhibits 1 and 2 signed the receipt, Exhibit 3, for \$4,800.00.

Exhibits 1 and 2 were two contracts notarized by the plaintiff and which bore the decedent's signature and which signatures the plaintiff admitted were genuine. The receipt was received in evidence.

The defendant then called Orien A. Spencer, one of the defendants. The defendant was not allowed to testify concerning the receipt because of the commonly called dead man's statute (Tr. P. 51). The defendant then rested.

In rebuttal the plaintiff called as his witness his attorney, who testified that prior to September 6, 1953, approximately September 1, 1953, that he wrote the defendant a letter asking him to come and see him but that the defendant did not come and see him prior to September 29, 1953. This constituted the total rebuttal.

At this stage the plaintiff again rested and the defendant moved the court again to dismiss the case for the reason that the plaintiff had failed to prove a cause of action, and that he had not carried the burden of proof in that the plaintiff had not presented sufficient evidence for the court to reach a verdict in favor of the plaintiff, and for the further reason that the plaintiff had presented absolutely no evidence to refute the authenticity or genuineness of the receipt.

The defendant's motion was denied and the court took the matter under advisement.

The court on its own motion on the 19th day of October, 1954, ordered that further hearing upon the cause be heard on the 25th day of October, 1954, at 1:30 P. M., in order that the parties present evidence upon the following points, to-wit:

"1. Evidence concerning the possession by the defendants of the sum of \$4,800.00 in cash which could

have been, or which probably was, paid to the deceased on or about the 21st day of August, 1953.

2. Further evidence of the search by plaintiff and/or the heirs of the decedent made either before or after the bringing on of the cause for trial to discover the possession of \$4,800.00 in money in the decedent after the 21st day of August, 1953, including banks in the cities of Lehi, American Fork, Pleasant Grove, Provo and Salt Lake City, and a more detailed search of the premises wherein deceased lived after August 21, 1953, and any other locations known to the heirs and representatives of the decedent wherein the said decedent might have made temporary disposition of \$4,800.00 paid to him prior to plaintiff's return from vacation on August 22, 1953."

On October 25, 1954, the defendant again moved the court to dismiss the case for the reasons stated at time of trial on October 19, 1954, and for the further reason that the court by reopening the case on its own motion and by designating what matters were to be proved and how they were to be proved, was acting beyond its authority and was, in any event, abusing its discretion. This motion was denied.

The attorney for the defendants was unable to notify the defendants of the court's order to reopen in time for the hearing. However, the plaintiff proceeded to introduce evidence along the line requested by the court, recalling to testify Thomas F. Kirkham, Harvard Hinton, plaintiff's attorney, and Cleo Beagley, and calling as a new witness Leslie Goates. The defendant again renewed his motion to dismiss, which was denied.

The case was continued until November 6, 1954, for the purpose of allowing the defendant to present the evi-

dence requested by the court's Order to Reopen; however, on the 5th of November, the parties appeared before the court and the defendant rested without presenting further evidence. The plaintiff moved the court to re-open the case to allow the plaintiff to present further evidence, but the court denied the plaintiff's motion in this instance. The court took the matter under advisement.

On November 8, 1954, the court rendered the judgment complained of. The defendants moved for a new trial, which motion was denied and the defendants appealed.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS AT THE END OF THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE IN CHIEF SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED FOR THE REASON THAT THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE A CAUSE OF ACTION AND FOR THE REASON THAT THE EVIDENCE PROVED WAS INSUFFICIENT FOR THE COURT TO GRANT THE RELIEF PRAYED FOR.

POINT 2

DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE AND FOR JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANT AFTER BOTH PARTIES HAD RESTED SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED FOR THE REASON THAT THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A JUDGMENT FOR THE PLAINTIFF AND THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANTS WAS PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF PAYMENT AND WAS UNREFUTED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT 3

THE COURT ERRED IN RE-OPENING THE CASE ON ITS OWN MOTION AND IN DESIGNATING THE MANNER, KIND AND AMOUNT OF EVIDENCE THAT WOULD BE REQUIRED BY THE COURT.

POINT 4

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE ERRORS OF LAW COMMITTED BY THE COURT.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS AT THE END OF THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE IN CHIEF SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED FOR THE REASON THAT THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE A CAUSE OF ACTION AND FOR THE REASON THAT THE EVIDENCE PROVED WAS INSUFFICIENT FOR THE COURT TO GRANT THE RELIEF PRAYED FOR.

At the end of the plaintiff's case in chief the defendants moved the court to dismiss the plaintiff's case (Tr. P. 43) for the reason that they had not proved a prima facie case. The defendants were then entitled to a non-suit on the basis of insufficiency of evidence.

It was obvious from the facts proven that there had been no showing that the defendant had not paid the \$4,-800.00. In fact, there were from the plaintiff's own testimony many reasonable and probable explanations of where the money was or had gone. It must be remembered that

the plaintiff brought this action and in his pleadings alleged that this payment among others had not been paid. This was specifically denied by the defendant and in fact the defendants pleaded that the defendant made payments to the said William Kirkham regularly and consistently and according to the contract, and that on the 21st day of August, 1953, paid the decedent, William Kirkham, the sum of \$4,800.00, which was believed to be the entire balance of the principal and interest owing on the contract, and the decedent gave the defendants a receipt for \$4,800.00 and agreed that he would calculate the exact amount owing and would deliver the deed to the defendant when he had done so and this amount was paid. The receipt which is admitted herein verifies such pleading.

Surely it is incumbent that plaintiff prove lack of payment, and not just that the money did not appear as one item in a bank account that was handed to the Administrator.

The plaintiff testified (Tr. P. 12) in answer to his attorney's question that it was his duty to collect the assets of the estate and that he had filed an inventory, and in doing so he had not found the \$4,800.00. It is fundamental that one of the chief duties of the Executor is to collect and search out the assets of the estate. However, in this case, the Executor did nothing to find out what was owing the estate, or to search through the belongings of the decedent in an effort to discover whether the money had been found or was among the assets of the decedent, but because it was not in one item in the bank account book of the Lehi State Bank, he assumed that it had not been paid. The entire testimony of the of the plaintiff on cross examination indicated that there was not sufficient proof to justify a

verdict. This is clearly shown by the following testimony:
(Transcript P. 15, L. 17 to P. 18)

MR. HOWARD: Q. "Did he ever bank anything without you being present, or without you doing it or him?

A. The last year or so I did all of his banking for him.

Q. How do you know you did?

A. All that I know about, from this——

Q. You did all the banking in these two bank accounts?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You don't know whether or not he had a bank account in the Farmers & Merchants Bank in Provo, do you?

MR. HINTON: Your Honor, I object to that. He has testified, and it is in the inventory, that there were no other bank accounts. He is badgering the witness.

THE COURT: He may be cross examined about it anyway. Overruled.

MR. HOWARD: Q. You don't know whether or not he had a bank account in the Farmers & Merchants Bank, do you?

A. I do not know.

Q. And you don't know whether he had one in the Peoples State Bank, of American Fork?

A. I do not know.

Q. Or in the Pleasant Grove Bank?

A. I do not know.

Q. Or in any other bank, but the Lehi Bank, do you?

A. That is the only bank I know about.

Q. Did you make inquiry at any other bank ?

A. I did not.

Q. So he might have had a bank account somewhere else, and you might not know it; isn't that so?

A. Could be so.

Q. That's right. And where did you look for money?

A. Where did who look for money?

Q. Yes, you didn't find any in his home?

A. Ask your first question.

Q. Where did you look for money, when you searched the assets of the estate?

A. I did not search the assets, at the time of his death.

Q. Well, subsequently, did you search the assets of the estate?

A. From all the evidence that was given to me by members of his family, I took the assets.

Q. What inquiry did you, yourself, as administrator of the estate, make in the affairs and property of the decedent? What inquiry did you make as to property? What was in his house?

A. Two members of his family.

Q. Did they do it?

A. They searched his belongings.

Q. But you didn't?

A. I didn't.

Q. In fact, you have made no search at all yourself, have you, into his belongings? Have you?

A. I have taken all of his accounts, and listed them.

Q. From what somebody gave you?

A. From what he gave me.

Q. Did you go through his bureau drawers.

A. I did not.

Q. Did you go through the cupboard in the kitchen?

A. I did not.

Q. Did you go through the things in the basement?

A. I did not.

Q. Or anyplace in the house?

A. I did not.

Q. Or the shelves of the closet?

A. No.

Q. So you don't know what moneys were on hand at his death in his house, do you?

A. I don't know.

Q. You didn't go in his wallet, did you?

A. I did not. The members of his family did all of those things. It was their concern, not mine.

Q. Who were there when they did these things?

A. His children.

Q. Who were they?

A. Well, he has four children.

Q. Which child did these things, to your knowledge?

A. I don't know.

Q. You don't know who did it?

A. I don't know.

Q. You filed an affidavit with the Court that a search had been made, and that these were the things in his estate, did you not?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And yet you had not made a search had you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you make a search?

A. Sure, to get all these records together.

Q. But you didn't make a search of the assets of the estate?

A. From the members of his family.

Q. Did you deposit everything Mr. Kirkham received in the bank?

A. Not everything, no, sir.

Q. What did he do with some of the moneys that he received?

A. I don't know.

Q. He had moneys that he received that he didn't deposit, didn't he?

A. I don't know.

Q. Well, you know he didn't deposit everything he received, don't you?

A. I don't know that.

Q. Let me ask you this then, Mr. Kirkham: Did you deposit all the moneys that were received from Mr. Albert Peterson, on a contract of Mr. Peterson?

A. I don't know what money that he brought to me represented. What money he brought to me, to deposit for him, I deposited. Other than that, I made no deposits for him, only money that he brought to me, to take over to the bank for him, is what I deposited for him."

You will note specifically that he admits that no search was made (Tr. P. 16). He states, "I did not search the assets, at the time of death", and that (Tr. P. 17) he only took what assets were given to him by members of the decedent's family.

How could the court conclude from this testimony, and this is the principal testimony of the plaintiff's case, that the defendants had not paid the \$4,800.00, especially where by their pleadings they state that they did thereby put the matter in issue. The only further evidence the court could take into consideration was the testimony of Mrs. Beagley, who could testify only to what she found and as to what she did, and she testified in substance and effect that she did not find the \$4,800.00, although she admits that in the house at the same time searching was her sister, her two brothers and her husband. She admits (Tr. P. 41) that she searched the linen closet alone, which obviously means that the others were doing something else. She also ad-

mits that the search she made, and what she supposes the others made, was limited to the house (Tr. P. 42), and that she nor anyone else made any further search other than in the house, her reply being "That wasn't my job, that was the administrator's job." (Tr. P. 42)

Mr. Hinton's testimony was without any probative merit, the substance of it being that he wrote a letter to the defendant, Mr. Spencer, on September 1, 1953, and that by September 29th the defendant had not been in to see him (Tr. P. 57, L. 19 to 22).

It is so fundamental that the plaintiff has the burden of proof that the defendant will not on this point submit authorities. The defendants are aware that the burden in this case requires the plaintiff to prove somewhat of a negative proposition, that of non-payment; however, even in this case a mere statement that it was not paid is not sufficient. Something more must be shown. There should be,, at least, a showing by some evidence that it was not paid; this is done in the usual case by the obligee testifying that he did not receive the money. In the instant case the obligee is dead, so it is incumbent upon the plaintiff to show that he did not receive the money. Is it sufficient for the plaintiff to show this by testifying that he has looked in a bank book of the decedent and someone has told him that they searched the decedent's desk and didn't find it? Is it again sufficient when one of the searchers as corroboration says she didn't find it but admits her search was limited to the decedent's house, and then to only parts of it? It was so obvious that the money was, and probably is, someplace else that the court should have granted a non-suit. Even the trial court, by its own order, admitted that the money had probably been paid and that if the plaintiff

looked he would probably find it. The court said in its order to the defendant to produce more evidence:

“1 Evidence concerning the possession by the defendants of the sum of \$4,800.00 cash which could have been, **or which probably was**, paid to deceased on or about the 21st day of August, 1953.”

(Emphasis added)

Surely the plaintiff should have at least probable reasons to believe the debt to be unpaid before causing the defendants to defend a law suit, and where it is apparent from the plaintiff's own testimony that the debt could have been paid, then there is a failure of proof. A good way to analyze the problem is to say: “Assume the defendants had rested without presenting any evidence, could the court at this stage and having received this quantum of evidence, have granted judgment to the plaintiff?” The answer to this question is “no”.

The appellant's contention that they should have been granted a non-suit in the case below upon the facts stated could not be stated more clearly than in the language used by this Court in the case of *Winegar v. Slim Olson, Inc.*, 252 P.2d 205. That was a case brought by the plaintiff to recover for the loss of a Diesel engine allegedly caused by the negligent installation of an oil filter bag by the defendant's employee, and was tried without a jury. The fact to be proved in that case was that the filter bag, because of its negligent installation, clogged the oil line, thereby causing the damage complained of.

The plaintiff proved that such an installation could have caused such damage; however, upon cross-examination the defendant established that some other causes could have

clogged the oil line. Similar to the principal case in which the plaintiff says he hasn't seen the \$4,800.00 but where the defendant establishes upon cross-examination that he hasn't looked for it and that it might very well have been found if he had looked. The court in that case said:

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