1955

Thomas F. Kirkham v. Orien A. Spencer and Viola Spencer : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

\$6000.00. The decedent died on September 6, 1953. Mr. Harvard R. Hinton, who is an attorney for the plaintiff in this action, was also counsel for the decedent prior to his death. In the forepart of August, 1953, Thomas F. Kirkham, Administrator herein, departed on a vacation trip, returning on Saturday, August 22, 1953. In the first part of the week following, the decedent came to the plaintiff administrator and expressed some concern over the delinquencies upon contracts, specifically mentioning the Spencer contract. Thomas F. Kirkham advised the decedent then to turn his contracts, including the Spencer contract, over to his attorney and quit worrying about them. Thereafter, either on August 29th or August 30th, (after the alleged payment of August 21) the Spencer contract was delivered to Attorney Hinton with instructions to collect the delinquencies upon the same. Mr. Hinton then on or about September 1, 1953 wrote a letter to the defendants concerning their delinquency on this contract but the defendant did nothing whatsoever about the matter until September 29th (nearly a month later) when they came to see Mr. Hinton and there for the first time claimed payment of \$4800.00.

As has been stated by the appellants in their brief, evidence supporting a claim of non-payment is usually accomplished by the testimony of an obligee that payment was not made.

In the instant case the obligee, William Kirkham, is dead. Therefore his actions with respect to the issues of this case *after* the date of the alleged payment, August 21, 1953 and *prior* to his decease on September 6, 1953 are of primary importance.

The evidence without conflict shows that the deceased as far as was ascertainable was in good health all during the month of August and in the forepart of September, 1953. He suffered a sudden stroke on the 4th of September, which rendered him immediately unconscious, resulting in his death on September 6, 1953. And further evidence shows that the deceased never at any time requested his brother Thomas F. Kirkham to prepare a deed for him to be delivered to the defendants in fulfillment of their contract, and never at any time did the deceased ask his brother to make interest calculations on the defendants' contract. As a matter of fact, the evidence as herein stated before, clearly shows that the decedent after the date of the alleged payment and prior to his decease complained of delinquencies of the Spencer contract to his brother, who normally conducted all of his business for him including the preparation of deeds and the calculation of interest, and delivered said contract to his attorney to collect said delinquencies. The bank pass book, plaintiff's exhibit C, further shows that no such sums as claimed by the defendants to have been paid to the decedent were deposited to his account, and that the decedent did not deliver any such sum of money to Thomas F. Kirkham, Administrator. The evidence further shows that a complete and thorough search of the premises wherein the decedent resided and inquiries at seventeen banks in Utah and Salt Lake Counties were made (the most likely places that the decedent would have deposited any money if such deposit had been made) and that no evidence of money, bank deposit books or safety deposit box keys was found to indicate that the decedent had ever received the \$4800.00 in question.

It is the contention of the respondent that the evidence of the case clearly supports and proves the allegations of an unlawful detainer action, including the fact of nonpayment as shown by the actions of the decedent and testimony of witnesses during the trial in the lower court.

It is often said that the burden of proof is upon the party having in form the affirmative allegation, but the burden of going forward with the proof shifts many times during the trial from one party to another party. In the instant case the appellants claim payment as an affirmative defense in their pleadings; therefore, the burden of going forward to convince the trier of facts that payment was made shifts to the appellants. The appellants were the parties who presumably had the peculiar means of knowledge which would enable them to prove payment but this in fact they failed to do.

All throughout the appellants' brief they have labored extensively on speculation and fanciful imagination, even quoting statements of the court as to what could have been, or which probably was, which statements were made prior to the court's finding and judgment.

The following decisions clearly indicate that such statements have no bearing upon the court's final finding and judgment:

"Oral antecedent expressions of opinion by a trial court inconsistent with findings, conclusions and decree ultimately rendered in writing do not affect the final judgment."

In Re Roth's Estate, 269 P 2nd. 278, 2 U. 2nd. 40.

"Oral statements of opinion by the Trial Judge made in connection with a ruling do not constitute

findings nor judgment and will not modify or affect them if the ruling, findings, order or judgment is otherwise sound."

Wheat v. Denver R. G. & W. RR. Co., 2500 P. 2nd 932.

"At the conclusion of the evidence the court rendered an oral opinion expressing his views . . . Such opinion of course is not the decision of the case and may not be regarded as such . . . the decision of a case consists of the findings, conclusions, and decree; . . . such reasons are not binding on the reviewing Court and may not be considered as controlling the findings nor as supplying a want of them,"

Stevens & Wallis v. Golden Porphyry Mines Co., 18 P. 2nd 903, 904 81 U. 414.

"Oral statements of opinion by the trial court inconsistent with the findings and conclusions ultimately rendered do not affect the final judgment."

McCollum v. Clothier, 241 P. 2nd 468, 472.

Also to the same effect, *Palfreyman v. Bates & Rogers Construction Co.*, 108 U. 142, 158 P. 2nd 132.

In the McCollum case the court greatly exceeded the statement of the Court made in the instant case prior to judgment. In that it orally informed the defendants that it would rule in defendants' favor, stating that it would not be necessary for the defendants to procure an additional contemplated witness. It later developed that the court changed its mind and ruled in favor of the plaintiff even though defendant's contemplated witness died without being given opportunity to testify and the decision was nevertheless upheld by the Supreme Court in the following words:

"The fact that the trial court changed his mind and entered a judgment contrary to his orally announced decision at the time the case was submitted, cannot be the basis for overturning the judgment. The only judgment that can be given effect is the one entered in accordance with law. * * * no antecedent expressions of the judge can in any way restrict his absolute power to declare his final conclusion, in the only manner authorized by law, to wit, by filing his decision (findings of fact and conclusions of law * * *)"

McCollum v. Clothier, 241 P. 2nd P. 472

The findings of fact by the trial court pertinent to the issue in question was that the defendants did *not* pay to the plaintiff's decedent during the month of August, 1953 the sum of \$4800.00. The above stated finding of fact was supported by abundant competent evidence.

A Utah case decided in 1953 held that the Supreme Court cannot disturb the trial court findings of fact if there is any competent evidence to support the findings. *Seamons vs. Anderson*, 252 P. 2nd 209.

Other Utah cases where the same doctrine is applied are:

Beagley vs. U. S. Gypsum Co., 235 P. 2nd 783.

Tacea Tsouras vs. Brighton & North Point Irrig Co., 227 P. 2nd 329

Garrett Freight Lines vs. Cornwall, 232 P. 2nd 786

Williams vs. Ogden Union Ry & Depot Co., 230 P. 2nd 315

It has been further held that:

"The Supreme Court will not redetermine facts found by the fact finder in a lower court in law cases

if, in the light most favorable to the respondent, the evidence is sufficient to sustain such findings."

Gibbons & Reed Co. v. Guthrie, 256 P 2nd 706.

"On appeal, prevailing party in case at law is entitled to benefit of evidence in light most favorable to him, together with every inference and intendment fairly and reasonably arising therefrom."

Nasner v. Burton, 272 P. 2nd. 163, 2 U. 2nd 236.

Also *Weenig Bros. v. Manning*, 262 P. 2nd, 491, 1 U. 2nd 101.

POINT TWO

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE AND FOR JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANTS AFTER BOTH PARTIES HAD RESTED SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN GRANTED FOR THE REASON THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A JUDGMENT FOR THE PLAINTIFF AND THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANTS WAS NOT PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF PAYMENT AND WAS REFUTED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

What we have stated under Point One is also applicable to Point Two.

The appellants contend that by the introduction of defendants' exhibit No. 3 they had proved a prima facie case of payment and that the respondents did not offer any scintilla of evidence to rebut the exhibit.

Respondents deny appellants' contention on both counts.

The case of *Gallagher vs. Theilbar Realities*, 18 P. 2nd 1101, 93 Mont. 421, cited by the appellants in support of their argument may be distinguished from the case at hand in that the court was called upon to determine as a matter of law whether or not the *uncontradicted* evidence to the effect that an individual agreed to settle in court an account by paying part thereof in cash and giving his personal note for the balance, and that the other party upon receipt of the cash and note voluntarily receipted the statement of the account, constituted payment. Whereas in the instant case the appellants are asking this court to determine the *sufficiency* of the evidence of respondents which was most certainly abundant and contradictory to that of the appellants.

The evidence recited in Point One pertaining to the circumstances and conduct of the deceased *after* the date of the alleged payment and *prior* to the date of his decease; the failure of the defendants or appellants to reply to a demand for payment or to make any statement whatsoever for over a month after the alleged payment; the testimony of Thomas F. Kirkham, Administrator of the Estate of William Kirkham, deceased, relating to the Spencer contract; the bank deposit books; the testimony of the heirs relating to the search of decedent's belongings; the testimony of Attorney Harvard R. Hintor and all other evidence submitted on behalf of the respondents clearly contradict and rebut the so-called evidence of defendants' exhibit No. 3.

The physical evidence of defendants' exhibit No. 3 shows that the *signature only* was in decedent's handwriting and it

was stipulated by the appellants that the body of this exhibit was *not* in the decedent's handwriting. As a matter of fact, the signature and body were written by different pencils as well as by different hands.

The trial court in its analysis of the case states, "It is more than passing strange, that where a receipt is written in lead pencil, at a time when \$4800.00 was being paid, that the payor, or someone in his behalf would use one pencil to make the body of the receipt, and the signer would then use another pencil in signing his name thereto."

There was not one scintilla of evidence offered by the appellants concerning their exhibit No. 3 with relation to anything other than the signature. There was no evidence presented concerning the drafting of this exhibit, the place of payment, means of payment, or any evidence whatsoever surrounding this exhibit other than the signature.

When the physical facts of this exhibit are considered in light of the facts determined by the evidence as presented in Point One and elsewhere throughout this brief, speculation as to what might have been or which was probably done ceases to be. We are then left with the findings of fact by the court that the claimed payment of \$4800.00 was never paid, and that the receipt, defendants' exhibit No. 3, even though it bears the true signature of the decedent (which gives full credit to defendants' only evidence) is false, forged and counterfeit, which findings are clearly supported by abundant, competent evidence.

Appellants certainly did not prove by any preponderance of evidence a genuineness of any receipt. The findings by the

court based on competent evidence that defendants' exhibit No. 3 is false, forged and counterfeit places the appellants' arguments concerning a so-called "receipt" outside of the scope of the issues before this court as all of appellants' arguments presuppose a valid receipt whereas a genuine receipt supported by evidence never existed, as was determined by the court.

The Utah cases cited under Point One holding that the Supreme Court cannot disturb the trial court's finding of fact if there is any competent evidence to support the findings is also applicable here.

A very recent Utah case, *Kimball Elevator Co. v. Elevator Supplies Co.*, 272 P. 2nd 583, 2 U. 2nd 289, states:

"On appeal from judgment for plaintiffs, Supreme Court was required to take all the evidence and every reasonable inference therefrom in light most favorable to plaintiffs."

* The general rule is that a verdict will not be set aside on the ground of insufficiency of evidence if the evidence substantially supports it. "There must be an absence of evidence against the defendants or a decided preponderance in his favor. In other words, the verdict must be plainly wrong and manifestly against the weight of the evidence to warrant the court in setting it aside."

People v. Swasey, 6 U. 93, 21 P 400

Also see *United States v. Brown*, 6 U., 115, 21 P. 461

POINT THREE

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN RE-OPENING THE CASE ON ITS OWN MOTION AND IN DESIGNATING THE MANNER, KIND AND AMOUNT OF EVIDENCE THAT WOULD BE REQUIRED BY THE COURT.

The mere fact that appellants have been unable to find authorities to support the action of the court in matters of reopening the case where the initiating source was the court itself certainly does not make it an abuse of discretion on the part of the court.

That a judge has no burden or duty to call forth evidence is plain in the law. But the general judicial power itself, expressly allotted in every state constitution implies inherently a power to investigate as auxiliary to the power to decide; and the power to investigate implies necessarily the power to summon and to question witnesses. If the court has such inherent power then the power to reopen a case on its own motion in order to make a proper judicial determination certainly must be one of its inherent powers.

Respondent agrees with the appellants that a broad latitude and discretion is allowed the trial court in reopening a case.

Appellants' contention that a motion to reopen is *always* made by one of the parties and is ordinarily based on newly discovered evidence is not shared by the respondent.

It was held in *Holn vs. Pauly*, 106 P. 266, 11 Cal. App. 724,

"Where, after submission, the judge, after suggesting it himself, reopened the case for further evidence,

it will be presumed that it was in furtherance of a desire to reach a just conclusion upon the merits, and, both parties having the same opportunity to offer additional evidence, he will be deemed to have acted within his discretion, especially where it is at least doubtful whether the additional evidence strengthens materially the successful party's case."

That a court may of its own motion reopen a case is implied from the following:

"Where the court reopens the case on motion, the character of the showing made in support of the motion is immaterial, since the court may, of its own motion, reopen the case." 88 *Corpus Juris Secundum*, 220 par. 104.

See also *Badoner vs. Guaranty Trust, etc., Bank*, 200 P. 638; and *Rutledge vs. Barger*, 255 P. 537.

That the court did not abuse its discretion could not be more clearly stated than the following statement from 88 *Corpus Juris Secundum* 222, par. 106: -

"It cannot be considered an abuse of discretion to reopen a case for further evidence where the adverse party suffers no injustice, or where the court permits him the same latitude in introducing further evidence where it is necessary to reopen to supply evidence material to the case and necessary for its proper disposition, or where the evidence is newly discovered."

Mohawk Carpet Mills v. State, 17 N. Y. 2nd 780

Chapman v. Associated Transport, 63 S.E. 2nd 465.

How can the appellants contend they were harmed or prejudiced when they were granted the same opportunities and latitudes as the respondents. The fact that they did not

avail themselves of this opportunity was not prejudicial to their interest when they were granted the same rights and privileges as were the respondents.

There is no conflict as to the broad latitude and discretion allowed a trial court in matters of reopening a case.

The appellants contend that there was a clear abuse of discretion in that the Court itself initiated the reopening of the case in order to hear further evidence necessary to the ends of justice.

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